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April 15, 2016

Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners
Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas
1000 Foust Road

Brownsville, Texas
Dear Commissioners:

Presented herewith is the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the Brownsville
Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas (“District”) for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The report consists of management’s representation concerning the finances of the District. Asa
result, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all the
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these
representations, management of the District has established an internal control framework that is
designed both to protect the District’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient
reliable information for the presentation of the District’s financial statements in conformity with
GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the District’s
framework of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance
that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we assert
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all
material respects. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the
District’s financial activities have been included.

Certain demographic information and miscellaneous statistics included in the CAFR do not come
from the accounting records of the District but are presented for the reader’s information.

Introduction

The District was created in 1929 by a special act of the Texas Legislature for the purpose of
dredging a channel from Brazos-Santiago Pass to a point five miles from the City of Brownsville,
constructing a turning basin and developing and operating a port facility. As created in 1929, the
District contains 368 square miles located entirely within and encompassing approximately 41.7%
of Cameron County. The District includes the Cities of Brownsville and Los Fresnos and the
Townships of Rancho Viejo and Indian Lake.

The District is a political subdivision of the State of Texas, and is an independent governmental
entity. A Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners, which establishes the policies, rules,
rates and regulations of the Port of Brownsville and approves all contractual obligations, govern

Brownsville Navigation District
1000 Foust Road » Brownsville, Texas 78521 = Ph (956) 831-4592 = (800) 378-5395 « Fax (956) 831-5006
www.portafbrownsville.com



the activities of the District. The Board consists of five Commissioners elected at large by place
for four-year, staggered terms. The Board elects its own Chairman, Vice Chairman and Secretary.
The District had 98 employees as of December 31, 2015.

Mission Statement

It is the mission of the Port of Brownsville (Brownsville Navigation District) to be a leader in
business development by providing state of the art infrastructure expansion, developing economic
opportunities, providing the best transportation facilities possible, and exhibiting high standards
of public administration with the ultimate goal being to improve the quality of life and create
employment opportunities, gain the public’s trust and confidence in order to increase growth
development and establish the Port of Brownsville as a world class port.

Location

The District governs the Port of Brownsville, which is located at the southernmost tip of Texas at
the westernmost terminus of a seventeen-mile channel that flows into the Gulf of Mexico at the
Brazos Santiago Pass. The City of Brownsville is two miles to the southwest and lies adjacent to
the Rio Grande River, providing a convenient gateway to Mexico and beyond via four international
bridges.

The Entrance Channel is protected by two rock jetties each over 5,000 feet in length and 1,200 feet
apart. The 17-mile ship channel has no bridges or other obstructions for the entire length of this
virtually straight waterway. Currently the channel has a depth 42 feet to within .85 mile of the
Turning Basin, and a depth of 36 feet to and through the Turning Basin. The channel has a
controlling (or minimum) width of 250 feet. The Turning Basin has a width of 1,200 feet. The
District has completed the study phase in conjunction with the U. S. Corps of Engineers to deepen
the channel to a depth of up to 52 feet and is pursuing funding options.

Business of the District

The District owns a diverse group of facilities designed for handling any type of cargo, including
general cargo, dry and liquid bulk, and project and heavy-lift cargo. In addition, the District leases
land and easements to others, grants easements for pipeline crossings of its property and maintains
areas for depositing dredged materials. The District purchases potable water from the Brownsville
Public Utilities Board for its own use and for distribution to its lessees and operates three
wastewater treatment plants. The District is also the grantee for FTZ No. 62 and has been
authorized by TxDOT to issue overweight permits for transit over a corridor from the Port of
Brownsville to the international crossing into Mexico.



Vessel Services

The Main Harbor consists of the Turning Basin and Approach, containing over five miles of
improved frontage. The Turning Basin is 3,500 feet long and 1,200 feet wide and contains ten
General Cargo Docks aggregating 5,200 lineal feet. Five Liquid Cargo Docks, a 400 foot Bulk
Cargo Dock serving the Grain Elevator and Limestone Plant, and two 600 by 280 foot deep water
General Cargo Docks are located in the Turning Basin which is 7,000 feet long with a 650 foot
bank width and a 500 foot controlling bottom width. A 3,000,000 bushel capacity grain elevator
with 1 million silo capacity and 2 million grain storage flats; 47 miles of railroad trackage and
mechanical freight handling equipment augment the Port of Brownsville’s ability to handle a wide
variety of cargos.

Fishing Harbor

A complete Fishing Harbor, separate and apart from the main harbor, was completed and placed
in service in mid-summer 1953. A second phase was finished in December, 1968. Located four
miles east of the main Turning Basin, with a protected entrance to the Ship Channel, this basin
measures 2,100 by 1,600 feet overall with two 300 by 1,200 foot peninsulas in the center. The
channel connecting with the Ship Channel is 200 feet wide and 600 feet long. Controlling depth
in the Fishing Harbor is 14 feet. This basin provides 12,000 lineal feet of dock space for trawlers,
tugs and other small craft. In addition, support industries for the Port of Brownsville’s oil rig
construction facility have located in the Fishing Harbor.

Terminal Operations

All waterfront facilities on the Brownsville Ship Channel, at the Main Harbor and the Fishing
Harbor, are owned by the Brownsville Navigation District. Certain small craft facilities are leased
to private operators, but all deep-water facilities at the Main Harbor are operated as public
facilities. Vessels and agents are assigned berths at the discretion of the District. Vessel loading
and discharge is performed by stevedoring contractors. Rail car and truck loading and unloading
is customarily performed by stevedoring contractors.

Around-the-clock supervision of vessels and vehicle traffic at the Port of Brownsville is provided
by the District. The Harbormaster’s Office schedules vessel arrivals and departures, maintains
radio contact with the pilot boat of the Brazos-Santiago Pilots’ Association and provides up-to-
the-minute information on schedules useful to agents, stevedores, tugboats, line-runners and the
general public. Vessels can call on Channel 12 or 16 twenty-four hours a day.

All General Cargo Sheds have hose stations and fire extinguishers suitable for the type of cargo
normally handled through the particular shed. Fire hydrants are located on wharf aprons and
throughout the Port’s storage facilities. Water supply is from a 16-inch main connecting with the
City of Brownsville Public Utilities Board’s distribution system. Storage capacity and pressure
equalization are provided by one 500,000 gallon and one 1,000,000 gallon elevated water storage
tanks,



The Brownsville Navigation District’s Administration Offices are located at the Port of
Brownsville. These offices handle inquiries on trade and industrial development, environmental
issues, accounting, purchasing, credit, traffic, personnel and engineering.

All docks at the Port of Brownsville are equipped with electricity and fresh water and most docks
are also served by rail. Wastewater and ballast facilities are available. All of the facilities are
operated for hire on a first-come, first-served basis.

The dry dock Los Alamos was signed over to the District by the U. S. Navy. It was re-christened
the Solomon P. Ortiz and was originally leased to Keppel AMFELS for operation as a dry dock to
repair drilling rigs. Keppel AMFELS subsequently exercised their option to purchase the Solomon
P. Ortiz. The dry dock was placed into service by Keppel AMFELS in May, 1996.

The District owns and controls approximately 40,000 acres of land adjoining the Turning Basin
and Ship Channel, and approximately 18,000 acres of this land has been developed with additional
land available for development. Developed and undeveloped sites are available for lease for cargo
facilities, industrial sites, expansion, relocation, manufacturing, greenfield projects, and more.

In recent years, the Port has seen substantial industrial development including tank farms, heavy
and light manufacturing, and steel fabrication. Plant sites of virtually any size, with access to the
deep-water harbor, rail connections, paved highways, and utilities may be rented on long-term
leases at attractive prices from the District.

The District derives its operating revenues from charges for lease rentals, wharfage, storage, vessel
dockage, and the sale of various port services such as utilities.

Foreign Trade Zone

On October 20, 1980, Foreign Trade Zone Board created Foreign Trade Zone (“FTZ”) Number 62
with the District as the Grantee and operator. There is a total of 2,300 acres available for FTZ
status at the Port of Brownsville, the Brownsville/South Padre Island International Airport, the
Harlingen Industrial Park, the Los Indios Industrial Park/FINSA Industrial Park and the NAFTA
Industrial Park. The District receives fees from tenants utilizing the District’s zone status. There
are currently seven Foreign Trade Zone tenants operating within the FTZ with general purpose
warehousing and liquid bulk storage available. The U.S. Foreign Trade Zone Board has ranked
the Port of Brownsville first in the nation out of 179 active U.S. Foreign Trade Zones for the
volume of goods exported during 2012, 2013, and third in 2014. Information for 2015 will be
available in September 2016. Additional information regarding cargo traffic and vessel services
revenues may be found in the Statistical Section — Tables 6 and 7.



Table 1 — Waterborne Cargo Tonnage for the Port of Brownsville

Calendar
Year

1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

2012
2013
2014
2015

Inbound
Tonnage
1,863,115
2,206,041
1,088,436
1,539,939
1,958,241
3,019,916
2,615,330
2,957,703
3,588,261
4,101,985
2,999.209
2,843,044
3,587,753
4,078,795
3,274,110
4,458,308
3,098,930
3,718,906
4,178,817
4,440,890
3,868,117
4,865,468
5,616,936

Outbound
Tonnage

385,954
340,725
1,090,575
700,321
509,831
226,839
283,592
234,372
367,565
488,285
633,568
915,679
902,622
682,858
1,045,754
870,369
663,079
920,506
1,221,890
1,092,380
1,462,747
1,378,157
1,458,518

Total
Tonnage
2,249,069
2,546,766
2,179,011
2,240,260
2,468,072
3,246,755
2,898,922
3,192,075
3,955,826
4,590,270
3,632,777
3,758,723
4,490,375
4,761,653
4,319,864
5,328,677
3,762,000
4,639,412
5,400,707
5,533,270
5,330,864
6,243,626
7,075,454

Number of
Vessels"

3,325
2,852
3,140
3,104
1,325
1,298
1,592
1,385
1,542
1,257
1,265
1,186
1,104
794
1,059
1,099
651
986
1,237
1,083
1,059
1,059
1,140

Foreign Trade Zone
Value(1,000%s)®
2,720,000
3,182,000
1,900,000
2,300,000
2,300,000
3,200,000
2,300,000

808,000
387,000
966,000
243,562
528,296
1,777,317
2,526,370
801,257
2,833,498
1,181,260
1,168,344
3,154,609
3,868,081
3,221,802
2,896,317
3,313,705

Saurce: Brownsville Navigation District Harbormaster and Foreign Trade Zone No. 62
™ Includes domestic shrimp boat activity through 1996 only. Domestic shrimp boat activity is no longer recerded,

@ September Fiscal year end



Port of Brownsville Infrastructure
The District owns and operates the following General Cargo and Liquid Cargo Docks.

Dock Number Type of Cargo/Storage Vessels Accommodated Location

Dock No. 1 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels North Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 2 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels North Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 3 General Cargo/Open Storage Light Draft Vessels West Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 4 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels North Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 7 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels North Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 8 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Drafi Vessels North Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 10 General Cargo/Open Storage Light Draft Vessels South Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 11 General Cargo/Open Storage Light Draft Vessels South Side-Tutning Basin
Dock No. 12 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels South Side-Tuming Basin
Dock No. 13 General Cargo/Covered Storage Light Draft Vessels South Side-Turning Basin
Dock No. 15 General Cargo/Covered Storage Deep Draft Vessels South Side-TB Approach
Dock No. 16 General Cargo/Covered Storage Deep Draft Vessels South Side-TB Approach
LCD 1,2&3 Liquid Cargos Light Draft Vessels Nortth Side-TB Approach
LCD5 Liquid Cargos Deep Drafi Vessels North Side-TB Approach
Bulk Cargo Dock Elevated Cargos/Bulk Cargos Light Draft Vessels South Side-TB Approach
Liquid Carge Dock  Liquid Cargos Light Draft Vessels South Side-TB Approach
Semall Craft Pier Not for Cargo Small Crafis West Side-Turning Basin
Small Craft Harbor  Fishing Harbor Small Crafis North Side-4 miles East

Open Storage Areas

General Carpo-Off-Dock Storage

Various Locations

Additional information regarding the facilities at the Port of Brownsville may be found in Table
17.

Capital Improvements Program

In an election held on October 19, 1991, voters in the District authorized, by a margin of 90%,
commencement of a major capital improvements program. The $43 million bond election was
designed to expand and modernize the Port facilities and increase capabilities by: (1)
construction of a Port of Brownsville/Matamoros cargo bridge including access and Port of Entry
facilities ($21 million); (2) widening and deepening the ship channel from 36 to 42 feet ($17
million); and (3) improvements to Port dock and wharf space ($5 million). The federal
government authorized $20 million for the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers to spend on the
channel deepening project.

In the October 19, 1991 election, District voters approved the following:

Balance Authorized

Bonds Authorized Purpose For Against but Unissucd
$21,000,000 International Bridge Project 2,373 242 $8.,000,000
$17,000,000 Channel Deepening 2,348 247 -0-

$5,000,000 Waterfront Improvement 2,346 254 -0-
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The Channel Deepening Project was completed, on budget and on time, in April of 1995, The
Waterfront Improvement project provided a new, deep-water liquid cargo dock 5, as well as
maintenance to other waterfront facilities. The International Bridge Project has received its United
States Presidential Permit, and is currently awaiting a similar permit from the Republic of Mexico
before construction may begin. However, a Presidential Permit of the Republic of Mexico has not
been received and this project is currently dormant.

In 1996, the District issued $7,250,000 in revenue bonds to finance the construction of a new,
deep-water General Cargo Dock, General Cargo Dock No. 15. These funds were combined with
a grant from the EDA to construct a $12,000,000 facility that is one of the premier docks on the
Gulf Coast today. The District also completed construction of a 100,000 square foot warehouse,

a 60,000 square foot warehouse with overhead cranes on the dock as well as two rail spurs to serve
the dock.

In 2000, the District issued $4,000,000 in tax bonds to reimburse the District for costs incurred in
connection with the construction of an international bridge across the Rio Grande River. In 2000,
the District also issued $4,000,000 in revenue bonds to acquire 3,000 acres of land for the
expansion of the Port. In 2002, the District issued $1,790,000 in revenue bonds and $1,900,000
in revenue bonds subject to alternative minimum tax (AMT) to finance improvements at the Port.

The District continually works to diversify the cargo mix at the Port of Brownsville. Over the Jast
few years the District has added in excess of 15 acres of open cargo storage area to prepare for the
increase in cargo volumes. More than five acres of patio storage was added in 2015 with an
increasing volume of wind powered component units for the production of electricity spurring
much of this new construction. Construction of additional patio storage space is expected to
continue in 2016.

Industrial Development

The objective of the Industrial Development Department of the District is to use the District’s
available land in the best manner possible, to attract industries that create jobs for the area and
tonnage for the Port, and to earn enough income to pay interest and principal on regular revenue
bonds used to improve all Port facilities. To this end, the District currently has about 13,000 acres
under lease or lease option which generated over $7,500,000 in revenue for fiscal year 2015.

Over the last few years the District has become a major location for companies applying for U.S.
Department of Energy Permits to construct Natural Gas Liquefaction Plants. The Port had land
lease options for 2,830 acres with five companies pursuing LNG export permits resulting in total
land lease option payments of $1,639,049 for the year ended December 31, 2015.

District-owned land is valued for leasing purposes with the assistance of a Real Estate Advisory
Committee. Changes in valuations are done on a port-wide basis and not on an individual lease
basis. Lease rental rates for land are set at 10% of the valuation on an annual basis and for District-



owned buildings, the rental rates are set at 15% of the valuation on an annual basis. The current
table of land rental rates is as follows:

Land Rental Rates

Lease Type Current Rates
TURNING BASIN LEASES
Waterfront Property $5,844 per acre/year
Highway Frontage $3,819 per acre/year
Port Entrance Sites $3,403 per acre/year
Inside Port/Off Waterfront $2,025 per acre/year
Remote Sites Negotiated Rates
Grazing Leases $2.25/acre/year
Tower Sites $17,000/site/year
Sign Sites $110 - $200/site/year
Fish Camps $500/camp/year
Billboards Market Rate
FISHING HARBOR LEASES
Water Front $4,494 per acre/year
Off-Water $4,156 per acre/year
Fishing Harbor Dock $1.25 per linear ft./month
Unimproved Bank Space $ .75 per front ft. per month

Additional information regarding operating leases may be found in Note 3. F, and information
regarding lease rates and lease revenues may be found in the Statistical Section — Tables 8 and 9.
Additional information regarding principal leasing customers can be found in the Statistical
Section — Table 9.

Lease terms of up to 50 years are permitted for ground lease rentals under Texas law. Lease terms
in excess of 50 years are available if advertised for competitive bidding. The District offers several
advantages to industries interested in locating in the Brownsville area. Property taxes are charged
against improvements on Port property and on the value of the leasehold to the tenant. There are
no city property taxes assessed against improvements on District land. All modes of transportation
are available to businesses that choose to locate at the Port: water transportation (both deep-sea
and through the Intracoastal Waterway System), rail, truck, air and pipeline. The land rental rates
are some of the most competitive in the area. Adding these inducements to those already inherent
in the Brownsville area (a solid, available labor force, optimal climate, proximity to the Mexican
labor force and markets, dependable utilities, and a progressive industrial development
commitment by the area’s local governments) makes promoting the Port of Brownsville to
prospective tenants a successful endeavor.

Overweight Permit Program

The District has been granted authorization by the Texas Legislature, under the auspices of the
Texas Department of Transportation, to operate an Overweight Permit program. This program has
been in place since 1998, and provides the users of the Port of Brownsville with the ability to carry

8



loads that, while they would comply with legal load limitations in Mexico, are in excess of legal
load limitations in Texas. The permit fee of $30 allows the truck to be loaded to a total gross
weight of approximately 119,000 pounds and to travel between the Port of Brownsville and the
Mexican border crossing along a specified route, the “corridor”. The proceeds of the sale of the
permits are remitted to TxDOT and are dedicated to the maintenance of the corridor. Through the
end of December, 2015, a total of 563,259 overweight permits have been sold, generating
$14,363,105 in funds for TxDOT. Of the $30 permit fee, TxDOT receives 85% or $25.50 with
the Port retaining the other $4.50 for administrative costs.

This program is now being implemented in other locations in Texas.

Cameron County

Cameron County was created in 1848 and it is the southernmost county in Texas. According to
the 2010 U. S. Census, the population of the County is 406,220, an increase of 56% over 1990,
and an increase of 99% over 1980. The area of the County is approximately 906 square miles,
comprising the Brownsville-Harlingen-San Benito Metropolitan Area. The largest city in the
County is Brownsville, which serves as the county seat. The economy is based on agricultural
production, fishing industries, industrial and manufacturing plants, tourism, health care and
educational services. Major agricultural crops include oranges, grapeftuit, cotton, grains and sugar
cane. Principal manufacturing products include off-shore drilling platforms, and electrical
equipment. Tourism attractions include South Padre Island, Laguna-Atascosa Wildlife Refuge,
the Confederate Air Force Flying Museum and the Gladys Porter Zoo.

City of Brownsville, Texas

The City of Brownsville is the county seat of Cameron County. Itis the southernmost city in Texas
and the largest city in the lower Rio Grande Valley. The City is located about 25 miles inland
from the Gulf of Mexico on the north bank of the Rio Grande River, directly across from
Matamoros, Mexico. The City is joined by four international bridges and serves as a trade center
for much of the lower Rio Grande Valley.

From 1980 to 2010, the City of Brownsville doubled in population, from a City of approximately
85,000 to a population of 175,023. The dynamics of this rapid growth has resulted in a very young
population compared to the rest of the United States, with approximately one-third of
Brownsville’s population in the Kinder to 12" grade age group.

Matamoros, Mexico

Matamoros, Mexico, is located on the south bank of the Rio Grande River, directly across from
Brownsville. The two cities are related historically, culturally and economically. Economic
cooperation dates back to the American Civil War when the two cities served as an import area for
vital Civil War supplies and an export area for the South’s cotton. In 1970, the city had a
population of 137,383. By 1990, the city’s population was 303,392, and by 2010, the City’s
official population was 489,193. Matamoros has a “shadow™ population not included in its census
count that is estimated to increase the city’s population to approximately 700,000.
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The Mexican In-Bond Industrialization Program offers foreign manufacturers an opportunity to
set up foreign-owned Mexican manufacturing companies in order to utilize their more competitive
labor rates. The finished goods are required to be exported from Mexico. This, accordingly, has
allowed U. S. manufacturers an opportunity to manufacture offshore, but adjacent to their major
market of the U. S.

These new industries represent manufacturing of electronics/electrical products, hydrochloric acid,
apparel, oil field drill bits, construction and mining equipment, shrimp processing, industrial
gloves, shopping bags, fiberglass products, automotive products, plastic injection molded
products, appliances, rubber seals, tool and die, plastic covers, stuffed toys and fiberglass tape.
Car manufacturing and assembly are becoming a major industry with increased growth expected
into the future.

Surplus labor, climate, proximity to the United States and the Port of Brownsville have led to the
rapid development of the area. A technological institute to train engineers, plus a medical school
and vocational and technological schools in Matamoros, train the labor force for the varying skills
required by the newly located companies.

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments

e Cameron County Regional Mobility Authority Roads Projects — In 2004, Governor
Perry approved Cameron County’s request for the creation of the Cameron County
Regional Mobility Authority (CCRMA). The purpose of the CCRMA is to provide
Cameron County with an opportunity to accelerate needed transportation projects and have
a local entity in place to make decisions on these projects that will be of benefit to its
service area. The focus of the CCRMA is to enhance the economic vitality of the lower
Rio Grande Valley. The Brownsville Navigation District has worked in cooperation with
the CCRMA on a number of projects that enhance the landward access to the Port of
Brownsville. The widening of FM 511 between Expressway 77/83 and the Port of
Brownsville was completed in early 2010. This was followed by the initiation of two
companion projects, the construction of a new truck route, SH 550, to bring truck traffic to
the Port of Brownsville, and the construction of a connector road between an existing Port
road and the terminus of SH 550. The connector road was completed in 2011, with the
completion of the new truck route in 2013. The CCRMA is also in the planning stages for
the “East Loop” project which will re-route truck traffic between the Port of Brownsville
and the international bridges, away from heavily traffic-congested areas of the City. These
projects coordinated with the District’s internal road rehabilitation project, which is now
complete, to improve the accessibility to the Port by its trucking industry. The final piece
of this transportation system improvement package, that of the direct connection of SH 550
to Expressway 77/83, was let for construction in mid-2012. This is all part of a
transportation system that will provide seamless access for truck traffic from northern
points, through the Port of Brownsville and on to the international bridge crossings into
Mexico.
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Lease Rental Rate Increase — The Brownsville Navigation District has approximately
5,000 acres available for industrial use. The various sites within the Port are leased to its
customers for their commercial use; in the past, land has not been sold by the District for
industrial development. In 2007, the District’s Board of Commissioners commissioned a
study of the lease rental rates at the Port of Brownsville as a part of its master planning
process. These rates had not been adjusted since 1982. As a result of the study, new lease
rental rates have been established, and were officially adopted by the Board of
Commissioners on December 1, 2010. These rates have already been implemented for new
leases, and began to be phased in for existing tenants in July, 2011. The new rates will be
fully implemented by 2016. At that point, the lease rental rates at the Port of Brownsville
will be subject to an annual adjustment based on the Consumer Price Index. In 2011, the
Port approved lease rental increases to be implemented over a five year period. These
additional revenues were earmarked for capital improvements. These increases generated
additional revenue of $521,365 in 2015 and a total of $1,348,916 since implemented in
2011.

Cargo Revenues — The District derives approximately 42.4% of its operating revenues
from Vessel and Cargo Operations at the Port of Brownsville. For 2015 cargo revenue
totaled to $9,234,414 an increase of $2,215,830 or 31.6% over 2014 cargo revenues of
$7,018,584. These revenues include charges for vessel fees, cargo wharfage and cargo
storage. The District continues to investigate new opportunities to expand its mix of cargo,
as well as working with its existing customers to increase their usage of the Port, to increase
its vessel and cargo-related revenues. Waterborne cargo totaled 7,154,125 metric tons, an
increase of 906,235 metric tons or 14.5% more than 2014 metric tons of 6,247,890,

TIGER Grant Funding Projects — As a part of the ARRA economic stimulus, the Federal
government has a grant program for transportation projects entitled the Transportation
Investment Generating Economic Recovery (TIGER) Grant Program. This grant program
was specified for “shovel-ready” projects. The District applied for funding for the
construction of a new deep draft cargo dock. The District’s grant application was approved
in the amount of $12,000,000. The Port also sold $10,000,000 in revenue bonds and used
about $3,682,000 operational funds to construct Cargo Dock 16 and related improvements
at an estimated cost of $25,68200,000. Construction began on Cargo Dock 16 in the fall of
2013 was completed in late summer 2015.

Corps of Engineers Channel Deepening and Widening Feasibility Study - This is a
long term project to investigate the feasibility of deepening and/or widening the Port of
Brownsville Ship Channel. The study was completed in 2014 with the District cost share
at $4,200,403 since that start of the project in 2006. Preliminary indications show a positive
cost benefit of deepening the channel to 52 feet. A positive economic benefit determination
is necessary for eligibility for federal funding. Channel deepening is believed to be critical
to the District’s future growth and development. The District is working with the Corps
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and multiple private parties to be able to begin the project prior to full Corps funding
authorization while still pursuing the Corps financial participation.

Purchase of a Terex/Gottwald Mobile Harbor Crane ~ In the fall of 2015 the District
purchased a second mobile harbor crane at a cost of $3,179,000. The new crane was placed
on new Dock 16 which is contigious to Dock 15 allowing the crane to be used on both
Docks. The new harbor crane also gives the District the flexibility to load or unload ships
at both docks or to use both cranes together to load or unload a ship at either dock.

Levee Improvements - Major Levee work was completed in 2015 for Placement Area 2,
Placement Area 4 and Placement Area SA. This levee construction totaled about
$3,600,000 with the bulk of the work being done in 2015. These improvements were
needed to allow the Corps of Engineers to do a maintenance dredge project of the channel
expected to begin in 2016.

Remodeling and Expansion of District Administrative Offices. The District entered
into an architectural contract in 2015 for design specifications for the rehabilitation and
expansion of the District’s administrative offices. Preliminary plans for the estimated
$5,600,000 rehabilitation and new construction project were near completion by the end of
2015. This project will increase District office space by more than 50% as well as
modernizing and bringing existing buildings up to current building codes.

Internal Roads Projects. In 2015 the District began the Internal Roads Project that
involves the reconstruction of Mineral Road East, Mineral Road West, Milo Road, Boxcar
Road and Calloway Road at an estimated cost of about $1,500,000. About $1,000,000 was
expended on this project in 2015. In 2015 the District also entered into an Advanced
Funding Agreement with TXDOT to reconstruct Old Highway 48 at an estimated cost of
$1,600,000 with TXDOT, in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Transportation,
providing about $900,000 for this project. This work is expected to begin in the first half
of 2016 and will result in the rehabilitation or reconstruction of almost all Port roads over
the last four years.

Foust Entry Canopy Project. In 2015 the Board of Commissioners approved a $750,000
Canopy Project that provides a larger covered area with enhanced security, capacity, safety,
convenience and appearance at one of the Port’s two main gates. This project is expected
to be completed in 2016.

Homeland Security Enhancements — Homeland Security has placed a number of
requirements for enhanced security in the Port of Brownsville in the past several years.
The District has applied for project funding under four grant offerings, receiving awards of
a total of $11,455,389 which require a funding match by the District of $4,102,859. These
projects are complete and are providing security enhancements at the Port of Brownsville.
As new grants are announced, the District will continue to apply for the funding provided.



¢ New Cargo Storage Areas - During the years 2007 through 2015, the District invested in
upgrading its mobile equipment. This new fleet of equipment has been put to use in
increasing the District’s capacity by clearing and stabilizing new cargo storage areas. The
District has been able to put these new cargo storage areas to use to accommodate
shipments of wind tower components and an increase in steel slab shipments through the
Port of Brownsville.

Financial Information

The accounting policies of the District and this report conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America for local governmental units as prescribed by the
Government Accounting Standards Board. A summary of significant accounting policies can be
found in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The integrity and objectivity of data in these financial statements and supplemental schedules,
including estimates and judgments to matters not concluded at year-end, are the responsibility of
the District. We direct the reader’s attention to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) immediately following the Audit Opinion letter which provides an analytical overview
of the District’s financial activities and serves as an introduction to the basic financial statements.

Independent Audit

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 listed in the foregoing Table of
Contents was audited by independent auditors selected by the Board of Navigation and Canal
Commissioners. The audit opinion, rendered by Long Chilton, LLP, is included in the financial
section of this report.

Certificate of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded
Certificate of Achievements for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Brownsville Navigation
District for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011,
December 31, 2012, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014. The December 31, 2011 award
was the first time the District has received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a
Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently
organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted
accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another
certificate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners
Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Brownsville
Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas (the “District”), as of and for the year ended December 31,
2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s intemnal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the business-type activities of the District, as of December 31, 2015, and the respective
changes in financial position and cash flows for the District for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2015 the District adopted new accounting guidance,
Government Auditing Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions and GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the
Measurement Date. OQur opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 25 through 31 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District’s financial statements as a whole. The introductory section, schedule of operating
expenses, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of
additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States,
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The schedule of operating expenses and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility
of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
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statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of
operating expenses and schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit

of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
them.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 11, 2016, on
our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Follit

LONG CHILTON, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Brownsville, Texas
April 15,2016
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of the Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas, we offer
readers of the District’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the
financial activities of the District for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. We encourage
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the financial statements
following this section and the notes to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For 2015, the financial position of the District improved significantly. District income for 2015
before depreciation was $9,749,605 dropping to $5,767,146 after a depreciation charge of
$3,982,459. Income before depreciation increased $2,746,373 or 39.2% above 2014 income
before depreciation of $7,003,232. District 2015 operating revenue totaled $19,719,262, an
increase of $3,182,963, or 19.2% above 2014 operating revenue of $16,536,299. Operating
expenses for 2015 of $9,969,657 before depreciation increased $436,590 over 2014 operating
expenses before depreciation of $9,533,067.

District operating revenue is comprised of Vessel Services, Lease Rentals at the Tuming Basin
and Fishing Harbor, Other Lease Rentals and Other Operating Income. Vessel Services revenues
of $9,234.414 for 2015 increased $2,215,830 from $7,018,584 in 2014, an increase of 31.6%.
The 1,140 vessels visiting the Port in 2015 was an increase of 81 vessels over the 1,059 vessels
that visited the Port in 2014. However, the increase in tonnage and revenue was mainly due to
more visits by larger ships in 2015. Tanker visits in 2015 increased from 92 to 118 while ocean
going cargo vessel visits increased from 118 to 131.

Lease rentals at the Turning Basin and Fishing Harbor totaled $7,536,336, an increase of
$1,834,809 or 32.2% over the prior year amount of $5,701,527. This increase was largely due
from additional Liquid Natural Gas related lease options and the fifth year of a five year phased
lease rate increase. Other Lease Rentals totaled $1,425,598, a decrease of $979,873 from the
prior year amount of $2,405,471, resulting from a one time payment of $1,191,181 by the BRG
in 2014.

Non-operating income for 2015 totaled $2,787,771, an increase of $206,510 or 8.0% from 2014
non-operating income of $2,581,261. This increase resulted mostly from the reduction in bond
interest expense. For 2015, the District received $3,105,043 in property tax of which $2,521,259
was for general obligation bond debt and $583,784 was for maintenance and operations. The
District also received $127,430 in penalties and interest for a combined 2015 tax, penalty and
interest total of $3,232,473. For 2014, the District received a total of $3,223,533 in tax, penalty
and interest. For 2015, the District reduced its tax rate from 4.2 cents per $100 of valuation to a
rate of 4.0667 cents per $100 of valuation, a reduction of 3.2%. The 2015 Distrcit tax rate
reduction was the District’s twenty-second consecutive tax rate reduction.
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OVERVIEW OF THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s financial
statements. The District’s basic financial statements consist of the following: Statement of Net
Position, Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, Statement of Cash
Flows, and Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on the District’s assets and deferred outflows
of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between the
two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as
useful indicators as to whether the District’s financial health is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information
showing how the District’s net position changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net
position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus revenues and expenses are reported for some items that
will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected leases and earned unused
vacation leave).

The Statement of Cash Flows reports how the District’s cash and cash equivalents were used in
and provided by its operating, non-capital financing, capital and related financing, and investing
activities during the periods reported. The net of these activities is added to the beginning year
cash balance to reconcile to the cash and cash equivalent balances as of December 31, 2015.
These statements are prepared on a cash basis and only present cash receipts and cash
disbursement information. The District uses the direct method of presenting cash flows, which
includes a reconciliation of operating activities to operating income.

Notes to the Financial Statements provide an in-depth discussion of many items disclosed in the
District’s basic financial statements. The financial statement disclosures are an integral part of
the financial statements. Such disclosures are essential to a full understanding of the information
provided in the basic financial statements. These notes can be found on pages 38-74.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

District total assets plus deferred outflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year were
$189,015,716, an increase of $9,762,477 or 5.4% over prior year total assets plus deferred
outflows of resources of $179,253,239. Total 2015 assets plus deferred outflows of resources of
$189,015,716 exceeded total liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources of $35,404,516 by
$153,611,201 which was an increase of $12,266,034 or 8.7% over the 2014 net position of
$141,345,167.

Operating income before depreciation for 2015 was $9,749,605, an increase of $2,746,373 or
39.2% over 2014 operating income of $7,003,232. Operating income for 2015, after
depreciation, totaled $5,767,146, an increase of $2,368,652 or 69.7% over 2014 operating
income of $3,398,494 after depreciation.



The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to The Brownsville
Navigation District for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014. This is the fourth year in a row that the District has received this prestigious
award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government entity must publish
an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report
must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement
Program’s requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for
another certificate.

The District’s financial health is reflected in the current year financial statements. The fiscal
year ending December 31, 2015 showed total net position of $153,611,201, which is summarized
as follows:

Condensed Statement of Net Position

12/31/2015 12/31/2014

Current and Other Assets 39,373,870 b 44 324,012
Capital Assets 148,795,101 134,827,258
Deferred outflows of resources 846,745 101,969

Total Assets and Deferred Cutflows of Resources 189,015,716 179,253,239
Long-Term liabilities outstanding 22,472,861 21,562,936
Other liabilities 9,771,609 13,178,521
Deferred inflows of resources 3,160,045 3,166,615

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 35,404,515 37,908,072
Net Position
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 131,432,039 113,617,071
Restricted for:

Revenue bond debt retirement and contingency 3,333,159 3,362,698

General obligation bond debt service 3,777,243 3,750,580
Unrestricted 15,068,760 20,614,818

Total Net Position 153,611,201 5 141,345,167

Additional information can be found in the Statement of Net Position, pages 32-33.




Changes in net position are summarized as

follows:

Operating revenues
Vessel services
Leasc rentals
Port System
Other lease rentals
Other operating revenue

“Fotal operaling revenues

Operaling expenses
Wages and employee expenses
Maintenance and operation of facilities
General and administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

Income from operations belore depreciation
Depreciation and Amortization

Operating income (loss)

Non-operating income {expense)
Interest income on investments and direct
financing leases - port sysicm
Interest income - other
Tax income - net of bad debt and collection expenses
General obligation bond debt service
Maintenance and operations
Penalties and interest
Interest expense and other bond issuance costs
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Bond service fees
Other non-operating income (expense)
Total non-operating income {expense)

fncome before capilal contributions

Capital contributions
Special item - contribution of net assets

Special item - franchise revenue

Increase (decrease) in net position

Net Positien - beginning
Prior period adjustment

Net Position - ending

Changes in Net Position

Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014 Change
9234,414 S 7,018,584 $ 2,215,830
7,536,336 5,701,527 1,834,809
1,425,598 2,408,471 979,873)
1,522,914 1,410,717 112,197

19,719,262 16,536,299 3,182,963
4,749,151 4,010,589 738,562
2,106,233 1,824,973 281,260
3,114,273 3,697,505 (583,232)
9,969,657 9,533,067 436,590
9,749,603 7,003,232 2,746,373
3,982,459 3,604,738 3772
5,767,146 3,398 494 2,368,652

285,865 260,285 25,580
251 43916 (43,665)
2,521,259 2,503,579 17,680
583,784 381,854 1,930
127,430 138,100 (10,670)
{684,604) (873,275) 188,671
- {39,944) 39,944
{5,150) (,130) {1,000)
{41.064) (29,104} {11,960}
2,781, 2,581,261 206,510
8,554,917 3,979,755 2,573,162
7,120,668 4,905,648 2,215,020
- 9,787,478 (9,787 478)
9,342 425431 {416.089)
7,130,010 15,118,357 (7,988,347}
15,684,927 21,098,312 (5,413,383)
141,343,167 120,316,533 21,028,634
{3,418,393) {69,678) (3,349.215)
133,611,201 $ 141,343,167 $ 12,266,034
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The District’s net position on December 31, 2015 increased $12,266,034 over 2014. Of this total,
$8,554,917 is income before capital contribution plus $7,120,668 as a capital contribution made
up of $679,169 from FEMA reimbursements for Port Security Grants, $6,432,511 from a U.S.
D.O.T. TIGER grant reimbursement for Cargo Dock 16 construction, $8,988 donation of federal
surplus personal property, and a prior year adjustment of $3,404,079 for the initial required
implementation of GASB 68 related to the Distirict’s pension fund. See Note 3. M, page 71.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

§2/3172015 12/31/2014

Inland channel, turning basin, & jetties b 56,317,038 b 52,116,635
Land 9,934,753 9,934,753
Easements 20,760 20,760
Docks and appurtenances 71,599,283 45,800,709
Water and sewer systems 10,557,670 10,534,059
Railroads 11,273,945 11,273,945
Land improvements and roads 35,716,659 30,786,480
Administration building 751,355 751,355
Industrial equipment 9,565,809 6,215,879
Furniture and equipment 1,176,696 1,176,696
Intangible Assets 5,895,274 5,895,274
Construction in progress 3,375,330 23,887,078

Total $ 216,184,572 $ 198,393,623

Additional information on the District’s Capital Assets can be found in Note 1. D 6, page 43 and
Note 3. D, page 51.

Prior to 2008, the District had not kept up with facility maintenance and equipment replacement.
During late 2008 and continuing through fiscal 2015, the District has had an aggressive capital
improvement program. For 2015, the District increased its capital improvement efforts. Federal
funding is playing a major role in the District’s capital improvement activities as a result of the
District aggressively identifying and pursuing federal funding for needed projects. As shown in
the Capital Assets chart, major capital asset transactions during the fiscal year ended December
31, 2015 include the following:

¢ Tiger Grant Dock 16 - The District’s Phase 1I application for a TIGER Discretionary Grant
to expand inter-port and regional shipping over the U.S. D.O.T designated M10 Marine
Highway Corridor was submitted and approved in 2012. The grant provided $12,000,000 in
funding toward a total cost of $25,682,000 for Cargo Dock 16 that was completed and put
into operation in September of 2015. This new dock is 600 feet long and provides the
District with increased capacity and flexibility and an opportunity to pursue establishing a
container operation. In addition to the $12,000,000 TIGER grant, other funding come from
a $10,000,000 revenue bond issue and about $3,682,000 from the District operating funds.
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Construction of a New Liquid Cargo Dock and Reconstruction of Liquid Cargo Dock
3.

In 2015, the District entered into engineering agreements for plans and specifications for the
construction of a new liquid cargo dock at an estimated cost of $28,000,000 and the
reconstruction of Liquid Cargo Dock 3 at an estimated cost of $2,500,000. In 2015, the
Board of Commissioners authorized the sale of $27,580,000 in Revenue Bonds scheduled
for a February of 2016 sale to finance the bulk of these projects with District operating
funds providing additional needed funds. New Liquid Cargo Dock 6 and the reconstruction
of existing Liquid Cargo Dock 3 will provide the District with the capacity to handle more
vessels and larger vessels. The Port’s ability to handle larger vessels is critical as the use of
larger vessels for liquid cargo is increasing and this trend is expected to continue.

Corps of Engineers Channel Decpening and Widening Feasibility Study - This is a long
term project to investigate the feasibility of deepening and/or widening the Port of
Brownsville Ship Channel. The study was completed in 2014 with the District cost share at
$4,200,403 since that start of the project in 2006. Preliminary indications show a positive
cost benefit of deepening the channel to 52 feet. A positive economic benefit determination
is necessary for eligibility for federal funding. Channel deepening is believed to be critical
to the District’s future growth and development. The District is working with the Corps and
multiple private parties to be able to begin the project prior to full Corps funding
authorization while still perserving the Corps financial participation.

Purchase of a Terex/Gottwald Mobile Harbor Crane - In the fall of 2015, the District
purchased a second mobile harbor crane at a cost of about $3,175,000. The new crane was
placed on new Dock 16 which is contigious to Dock 15 allowing the crane to be used on
both docks. The new harbor crane also gives the District the flexibility to load or unload
ships at both docks or to use both cranes to load or unload a ship at either dock.

Levee Improvements - Major Levee work was completed in 2015 for Placement Area 2,
Placement Area 4 and Placement Area 5A. These levee construction improvements totalled
about $3,700,000 with the bulk of the work being done in 2015. These improvements were
needed to allow the Corps of Engineers to do a maintenance dredge project of the channel
expected to begin in 2016.

Enhanced Security Projects — Enhanced security projects for 2015 included continuing
efforts to put in place security fencing and security lighting throughout the Port. For 20135,
more than $1,000,000 was expended or encumbered for security fencing, security lighting
and security equipment with approximately 75% of these funds provided by grants from the
United States Department of Homeland Security.

Remodelling and Expansion of District Administrative Offices. The District entered into
an archicteral contract in 2015 for design specifications for the rehabilitation and expansion
of the District’s administrative offices. Preliminary plans for the estimated $5,600,000
rehabilitation and new construction project were near completion by the end of 2015. This
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project will increase District office space by more than 33% as well as modernizing and
bringing existing buildings up to current building codes.

Internal Roads Projects. In 2015 the District began the Internal Roads Project that
involves the reconstruction of Mineral Road East, Mineral Road West, Milo Road, Boxcar
Road and Calloway Road at an estimated cost of about $1,500,000. About $1,000,000 was
expended on this project in 2015. In 2015 the District also entered into an Advanced
Funding Agreement with TXDOT to reconstruct Old Highway 48 at an estimated cost of
$1,600,000 with TXDOT, in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Transportation,
providing about $900,000 for this project. This work is expected to begin in the first half of
2016 and will result in the rehabilitation or reconstruction of almost all Port roads over the
last four years.

Patio Storage Expansion. In 2015 the District added about 6 acres of storage patio at a cost
of about $100,000 per acre with more patio expansion planned for 2016. The major impetus
for this substantial pation expanded is to accommodate a number of wind component
projects for the production of electricity that used the Port in 2015 and will continue to use
the Port in 2016. The expanded patio areas will also be used to store steel slabs, steel coils
and other products.

Foust Entry Canopy Project. In 2015 the Board of Commissioners approved a $750,000
Canopy Project that provides a larger covered area with enhanced security, capacity, safety,
convevience and appearance at one of the Port’s two main gates. This project is expected to
be completed in 2016.

The District’s outstanding debt is summarized as follows:

Outstanding Debt

127312015 12/3172054
Revenue bonds, net b 13,270,000 h) 14,669,045
General obligation bonds, net 8,287,480 10,583,891
Total 3 21,557,480 $ 25,252,936

The decrease in outstanding debt is due to payments on existing bonds without the issuance of a
new bonds, as well as the payoff of $1,630,000 on BRG bonds as part of a 2014 franchise

agreement with OmniTRAX.

Additional information on the District’s long-term debt can be found in Note 3. E. on pages 52-

54 of this report.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide the reader with a general overview of the District’s
finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, 1000 Foust

Road, Brownsville, Texas 78521.

31



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
December 31, 2015

ASSETS
Current Assets - Unrestricted:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Note and capital lease receivable, current
Taxes receivable, net of estimated uncollectible taxes
Other receivables and accrued interest
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

Total Current Assets - Unrestricted

Current Assets - Restricted:
Cash - revenue bond fund
Cash - general obligation bond fund
Cash - ovenweight permits
Taxes Receivable - G.O., net
Total Currrent Assets - Restricted

Total Current Assets

Capital Assets:
Property, plant, and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization

Other Noncurrent Assets:
Note receivable, non-current
Capital lease receivable, non-current
Other assels
Total Other Noncurrent Assets

Total Noncurrent Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions
Deferred charges on refunding
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total Assets and Deferred Qutflows of Resources

st
I

$ 26,565,968

1,550,616
411,708
214,904
377,090

2,500
423,564

29,546,350

3,333,159
2,685,268

3,783
1,091,975

7,114,185

36,660,535

216,184,572
(67,389,471)

148,795,101

1,783,099
555,724
374,512

2,713,335

151,508,436

779,104
67,641

846,745

$

189,015,716

{continued)



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - CONTINUED
December 31, 2015

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities - Unrestricted:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Unearned lease rentals

Total Current Liabilities - Unrestricted

Current Liabilities - Restricted:
Current maturities of long-term debt - bonds

Total Curtent Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Revenue bonds
General obligation bonds
Net pension liability
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions

Deferred property tax revenue
Total Deferred Infiows of Resources

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Revenue bond debt retirement and contingency
General obligation bond debt service
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Total Liabilitics, Deferred Inflows of Resources,
and Net Position

See accompanying notes to financial statements,

5 1,762,891
581,032
4,262,686

6,606,609

3,165,000

9,771,609

12,465,000
5,927,480
4,080,381

22,472,861

22,472,861

51,204
3,108,781

3,160,045

35,404,515

131,432,039

3,333,159
3,771,243
15,068,760

153,611,201

5 189,015,716

Lad
had



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

OPERATING REVENUES
Vessel services
Lease rentals
Port system
Other lease rentals
Other operating revenue

Total Operating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES, OTHER THAN
DEPRECIATION
Wages and employee expenses
Maintanence and operation of facilities
General and administrative expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Income from operations before depreciation
Depreciation
OPERATING INCOME

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)
[nterest income on investments and direct
financing leases - port system
Interest income - other
Taxes - net of bad debt and collection expenses
Penalties and interest
Maintenance and operations
General obligation bond debt service
Interest expense
Bond service fees
Other non-operating income (expense)
Total Non-Operating Income (Expense)

9,234,414

7,536,336
1,425,598
1,522,914

19,719,262

4,749,151
2,106,233
3,114,273

9,969,657

9,749,605

3,982,459

5,767,146

285,865
251

127,430

583,784

2,521,259
(684,604)
(5,150)
(41,064)

2,787,771

(continued)



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION - CONTINUED
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Income Before Contributions and Special Items
Capital contributions
Special item - franchise revenue

Increase {decrease) in net position

Net position at beginning of year

Prior period adjustments

Net position at beginning of year - as restated

Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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8,554,917

7,120,668
9,342

7,130,010
15,684,927

141,345,167
(3,418,893)

137,926,274

$

153,611,201




BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers
Payment to suppliers

Payment to employees
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Collections of M&O taxes and interest, net of discounts and collection expense
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Collections of G.O. taxes and interest, net of discounts and collection expense
Capital contributions
Purchase and construction of capital assets
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt

Net cash provided in capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received
Principal received on notes and capital leases receivable
Net cash provided in investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted
Cash - revenue bond fund - restricted
Cash - general obligation bond fund - restricted
Cash - overweight permits - restricted
Total cash and cash equivalents - restricted and unrestricted
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$ 19,853,576
(7,253,771)
(4,357,740)

8,242,065

645,964

645,964

2,551,557

7,120,668
(19,118,549)
(3,695,456)
(649,970)

(13,791,750)

279,454
383,529

662,983

(4,240,738)

36,828,916

§ 32,588.178

$ 26,565,968
3,333,159
2,685,268

3,783

$ 32,588,178

(Continued)



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
QOperating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Allowance for doutful accounts
Net pension expese
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in taxes receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deferred lease rentals and other credits
Deferred outflows - contributions after the measurement date
Net cash provided by operating activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Primary
Government

Enterprise Fund

$ 5,767,146

3,982,459
255,908
391,411

242,178
44,574
3,611
(50,907)
44,648
(2,794,078)
41,324
(129,158)
442,949

$ 8,242,065
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the Brownsville Navigation District's significant accounting policies consistently applied in
the preparation of the accompanying financial statements follows.

A. THE REPORTING ENTITY

The Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron County, Texas (the "District"} is an independent public
body created under the statutes of the State of Texas for the purpose of developing and operating a
deepwater seaport for the Brownsville, Texas area. A seventeen mile deepwater channel connects the port
with the Guif of Mexico. The channel and port facilities, comprised of approximately 40,000 acres of
land, docks, warehouses, utility systems and cargo handling equipment, have been financed by
contributions from the federal government, sales of general obligation bonds, sales of special revenue
bonds collateralized by revenues derived from leasing the improvements and facilities constructed with the
proceeds of the bonds, and unrestricted revenues in excess of operating expenses. The District derives its
operating revenues from charges for lease rentals, wharfage, storage, vessel dockage, and the sale of
various port services such as utilities and security.

The locally-elected Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners is exclusively responsible for all public
decisions and accountable for the decisions it makes. The Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners
appoints the Director/General Manager of the District. The activities under the purview of the Director are
within the scope of the reporting entity and the management is accountable to the Board of Navigation and
Canal Commissioners for the activities being managed. The Board of Navigation and Canal
Commissioners has the statutory authority to significantly influence operations. This authority includes
but is not limited to, adoption of the budget, control over all assets, including facilities and properties,
short-term borrowing, and signing contracts. The responsibility and accountability over all funds is vested
to the Board of Navigation and Canal Commissioners.

B. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT
PRESENTATION

The District is reported as a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities. The
District’s basic financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America as applied to governmental units in conjunction with the “Water
District’s Financial Management Guide” published by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standards setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The accounting and financial
reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and basis of accounting.
Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured. The basis of accounting indicates the
timing of transactions of events for recognition in the financial statements.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

C. BUDGETARY POLICY

The District’s budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. An annual operating and capital
improvement budget are adopted prior to the beginning of each year. Budget control is maintained at the
departmental level. Actions which change the annual budget must be authorized by the Board of
Navigation and Canal Commissioners.

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term investments with a maturity date of three
months or less of the date acquired by the District. For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the
District considers all highly liquid investments {(including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months
or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents.

The District invests funds in accordance with its policy, bond indentures, and the Texas Public Funds
Investment Act. The District's investment policy authorizes the District to invest in obligations of the
United States or its agencies and instrumentalities; direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies;
other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the
State of Texas or the United States; obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political
subdivisions of any state having been rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment
rating firm and having received a rating of not less than A or its equivalent; and certificates of deposit
issued by state and national banks domiciled in this state that are guaranteed or insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its SUCCESSOr.

2. [nvestments

The District adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Certain Investments and for External [nvestment Pools (“Statement”). Those provisions require that
certain investments be reported at fair value, rather than at cost or amortized cost, and that the changes in
the fair value of investments be recognized as investment revenue. The Statement further provides that the
District has the option of continuing to report certain investments at cost or amortized cost but must
disclose its policy in this regard.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION — CONTINUED
2. Investments — Continued

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, the District’s general policy is to report money market
investments and short-term participating interest-earning investment contracts at amortized cost and to
report nonparticipating interest-eaming investment contracts using a cost-based measure unless the fair
value of those contracts has been significantly impaired. All other investments are reported at fair value
unless a legal contract exists which guarantees a higher value. The term “short-term” refers to investments
which have a remaining term of one year or less at time of purchase. The term “nonparticipating” means
that the investment’s value does not vary with market interest rate changes. Nonnegotiable certificates of
deposits are examples of nonparticipating interest-earning investment contracts. Fair value determinations
of all securities are made on a monthly basis.

3. Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

The determination of the balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts consists of the combination of (a)
an amount which in management's judgment, is adequate to provide for potential losses from the trade
accounts receivable, and (b) an amount recorded as reserve for lease rental receivables which, in
management's judgment, represents the total amount of charges which are doubtful of collection. The
amount of the reserve for lease rentals represents lease charges which are not recognized as revenue until
collected from the lessee. The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts is $144,279 as of December
31, 2015. The balance in the reserve for lease rentals is $8,220 as of December 31, 2015.

The determination of the balance in the estimated uncollectible taxes receivable is based on an analysis of
the taxes receivable and reflects an amount which, in management's judgment, represents those taxes
doubtful of collection. The allowance for doubtful taxes receivable balance as of December 31, 2015, is
$8,954 and $45,500 for maintenance and operations and debt service respectively, for a total of $54,454.

4, [nventories

Inventories of materials and supplies are stated at cost utilizing the FIFO (first-in, first-out) valuation
costing method.

5. Restricted Assets
Certain proceeds of revenue and general obligation bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their
payment, are classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet, since their use is limited by applicable

bond covenants. Proceeds from the issuance of overweight permits are also classified as restricted assets
on the balance sheet, since their use is limited by contract with the State of Texas.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION - CONTINUED
6. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, are stated at cost. They are defined as assets

with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000, or the project was a betterment, or the project creates a
new asset.

Depreciation of plant and facilities is computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the
assets. Land, channel, turning basin, and jetties are not depreciated since they are considered to have an
indefinite useful life. The following estimated useful lives are used for depreciation purposes:

Classification Life

Docks and appurtenances 40 years
Water and sewer systems 10 — 30 years
Railroads 40 years
Land improvements and roads 10 years
Administration building 40 years
Industrial equipment 5 - 10 years
Furniture and equipment 5 years

Expenses for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Expenses for replacement and
betterments are capitalized. Costs of assets sold or retired and the related amounts of accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts, and the resulting gains or losses on disposal of the assets are
recognized in current operations.

The District's policy is to capitalize interest costs related to construction projects in accordance with the
requirements of GASB No. 62. Interest expense and interest income generated from borrowings used for

construction projects in progress are capitalized through the date the project is substantially complete and
ready for its intended use.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION — CONTINUED

7. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences, which include unpaid accrued vacation and sick leave, are accumulated during
employment and are accrued when incurred. Employees can earn vacation at rates of 12 to 18 days per
year depending on the length of employment, and may accumulate no more than 30 days at year end. Upon
termination or retirement, employees are paid for any unused accumulated vacation days at their current
rate of pay up to the 30 day maximum. Unused sick leave at termination or retirement is not paid to the
employee.

8. Deferred Compensation Plan

The District offers a separate deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Code Section 457(b). The plan, available to all District employees permits them to defer a portion of their
salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination,
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.

Amendments to the laws governing Section 457(b) deferred compensation plans substantially became
effective January 1, 1997. The District approved plan amendments such that plan assets are held in trust,
with Nationwide Services Corp. and Valic as trustees, for the exclusive benefit of the plan participants and
their beneficiaries. The assets will not be diverted to any other purpose.

The District does not have legal access to the resources of the deferred compensation plan, as such, the
plan is not reported in the District’s financial statements.

9. Net Position Flow Assumption

Net position represent the residual interest in the District’s assets after liabilities are deducted and consist
of three sections: net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. Net investment in capital
assets is reported net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by outstanding debt attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when
constraints are imposed by third parties. The remaining net position that does not meet the definition of
net invesment in capital assets or restricted are classified as unrestricted.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s policy to use
restricted resources first and then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION — CONTINUED
10. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Retirmenet Plan for Employees of Brownsville Navigation District and additions to/deductions from the
Retirement Plan for Employess of Brownsville Navigation District’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Retirement Plan for Employees of Brownsville
Navigation District. For this purpose, benetit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

11. Deferred QOutflows of Resources

GASB Concept Statement No. 4, Communication Methods in General Purpose External Financial Reports
That Contain Basic Financial Statements, provided definitions for elements in the financial statemnts.
Deferred outflows of resources are the consumption of net assets applicable to a future reporting period, as
defined in GASB Concept Statement No. 4. GASB Statement No. 63 establishes guidance for reporting
this element on the statement of net position and GASB Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources, certain items that were
previously reported as assets.

For current and advance refunding of debt, the difference between the reacquisition price and the net
carrying amount of the old debt is recorded as unamortized reacquisition costs and reported as deferred
outflows of resources. These amounts are amortized as components of interest expense over the shorter of
the remaining life of the refunding or the refunded debt. At December 31, 2015, reacquisition costs totaled
$67,641. Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 68 accounting methodologies adopted beginning in fiscal year
2015, recognition of deferred outflows of resources related to pension amounted to $779,104.

12, Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows of resources are the acquisition of net assets applicable to a future reporting period.
GASB Statement No. 63 establishes guidance for reporting this element on the statement of net position,
and GASB Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as
deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as liabilities. Pursuant to GASB
Statement No. 68 accounting methodologies adopted beginning in fiscal year 2015, recognition of deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions amounted to $51,264 as of December 31, 2015.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

E. REVENUES AND EXPENSES

|. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the entity’s ongoing
operations. The District’s operating revenues for vessel and cargo services are collected from charges
assesed pursuant to its tarriffs. These revenues are recognized and accrued during the period eamed.
Revenues from rental of equipment and facilities are derived from leases of land, a use agreement with
respect to railroad rights-of-way, and pipeline licenses. These revenues are recognized during the period
earned by accrual or prepayment amortization, as appropriate pursuant to lease agreement terms.
Operating expenses include the cost of services, administative expenses, and depreciation and amortization
on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses.

2. Property Taxes

Property taxes are levied in October in conformity with Subtitle E, Texas Property Tax Code for the year in
which assessed. Property is appraised, and a lien on such property becomes enforceable, as of January 1,
subject to certain procedures for rendition, appraisal, appraisal review and judicial review. Property taxes
become delinquent February 1 of the following year and are subject to interest and penalty charges.
Cameron County bills and collects property taxes of the District for a fee and remits collections to the
District. Property tax revenues are considered available when they become due or past due and receivable
within the current period.

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
E. REVENUES AND EXPENSES - CONTINUED

3. Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred. Advertising expense at December 31, 2015
was $55,673.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

NOTE 2. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The District is not legally required to adopt a budget; therefore, comparative statements of budgeted to
actual expenses are not included within the financial statements.

NOTE 3. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The District cash and cash equivalents of $32,588,178 are maintained in demand accounts. The amount on
deposit in demand accounts is fully covered by the federal deposit insurance through the FDIC or
collateralized by a FHLB Letter of Credit.

Investments

On December 2, 2015, the District’s Commissioners approved a revised Policy and Investment Strategies
statement. Investments shall be made in a manner which will provide the maximum security of principal
invested through limitations and diviersification while meeting the daily cash flow needs of the District
and conforming to all applicable statutes, bond ordinance requirments, GASB standards, and state statutes.
The primary objectives of the District’s investment policy are the security of principal, liquidity,
diversification and yield. Permissible instruments include obligations of the United States or agencies and
instrumentalities; fully insured or collateralized certificates of deposit from a bank doing business in
Texas; no-load, SEC-registered, money market funds; Texas local Government Investment Pools. The
District adopted GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, and the Investment
Policy has been revised to fully reflect all requirements in GASB Statement No. 40. The language
requirements for this statement are fully formalized in writing.

(This space intentionally left blank)
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Investments — Continued

All deposits with financial institutions are carried at cost. At December 31, 2015, the District had the
following investments:

Unrestricted Cash:
Checking $ 23,821,258
Savings 2.744.710
Total Unrestricted Cash § 26,565,968
Restricted Cash:
Revenue Bonds $ 3,333,159
GO Bonds 2,685,268
Overweight Permits 3.783
Total Restricted Cash $ 6,022,210

Interest Rate Risk - In accordance with the District’s Investment Policy the weighted average to maturity
limits the maximum allowable maturity to two years by not exceeding the anticipated cash flow
requirements.

Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits — In accordance with the District’s Investment Policy, the financial
institution must collateralize all funds with a minimum of 102% of the market value of the principal
portion. The District seeks to control the risk of loss due to the failure of a security issuer or grantor. Such
risk shall be controlled by investing only in the safest types of securities as defined in the Investment
Policy.

The District signed an agreement with its financial institution pledging funds to 102% minimum of the
market value of the principal and accrued interest. At December 31, 2015, all deposits are entirely insured
or collateralized by a FHLB Letter of Credit.

(This space intentionally left blank)
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B. RECEIVABLES
Trade and Lease Rentals Receivable

Receivables of the District as of year-end including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts
are as follows:

Accounts receivable — trade $ 1,658,550
Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts (144,279)
Accounts receivable — lease rentals 44,565
Less: reserve for lease rentals (8,220)
£ 1550616
Accounts receivable — other $ 377,090

Taxes Receivable

The determination of the balance in the estimated uncollectible taxes receivable is based on an analysis of
the taxes receivable and reflects an amount which, in management's judgment, represents those taxes
doubtful of collection.

Maintenance & Debt
Operation (M&Q) Service
Taxes receivable, gross h 223,858 $ 1,137475
Allowance for uncollectible taxes ( 8.954) ( 45,500)
Taxes receivable, net h 214,904 § 1091975

(This space intentionally left blank)
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NOTE 3. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES - CONTINUED
B. RECEIVABLES — CONTINUED

Notes Receivable

Notes receivable as of December 31, 2015 consist of the following:

Interest Issue Original Unpaid
Rates [ssue Date Matures Issue Principal
Note receivable, City of Brownsville,
collateralized by Deed of Trust on
279.84 acre tract of land 5.50% 10/10/2001 2021 $4,990,000 § 2,085,933
Less: Current Maturities 302.834)
Long-term Notes Receivable 5 1,783,099

Approximate maturities of notes receivable subsequent to December 31, 2015 are as follows:

Year City of Brownsville
2016 302,834
2017 319,489
2018 337,061
2019 355,600
2020 375,158
2021 395,791

3 _2,085933

C. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Bond Restrictions

The revenue bond and general obligation bond resolutions require that during the period in which the
bonds are outstanding the District must create and maintain certain accounts or "funds” to receive the
proceeds from the sale of the bonds and the net revenues, as defined, from the operations of the port.
These assets can then be used for any legal purpose and also, in accordance with the terms of the bond
resolutions, to pay the costs of enlarging, extending, or improving the District and to pay debt service costs
of the related bonds.
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C. RESTRICTED ASSETS - CONTINUED
Contract Restrictions

On February 25, 1998 the District entered into an agreement with the State of Texas for authority to issue
permits for the movement of overweight or oversize vehicles on State Highway 48/State Highway 4
between the Gateway International Bridge and the entrance to the Port and on State Highway 48/State
Highway 4 between the Veterans International Bridge at Los Tomates and the entrance to the Port of
Brownsville. The agreement authorizes the District to collect a permit fee in an amount not to exceed $80
for each permit issued and allows the District to retain a percentage of such permit fee for administrative
costs and the balance shall be used to make payments to the State for expenses incurred to maintain and
repair State Highway 48 and State Highway 4.

At December 31, 2015, the following assets are restricted assets:

Revenue Bond Funds (all cash accounts)

Debt reserve fund $ 1,644,335
Contingencies fund 289,896
Construction fund 321,865
Interest and redemption fund 1.077.063

Total Revenue Bond Fund Assets $ 3.333.159

General Obligation Bond Fund

Debt service fund
Cash $ 2,685,268
Taxes receivable, less estimated uncollectible taxes
of $(53,422) 1.091.975
Total General Obligation Bond Fund Assets $ 3.777.243
Overweight Permit Assets
Cash 3 3,783
Total Restricted Assets - District Obligations $§ 7,114,185
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D. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the District for the year ended December 31, 2015 was as follows:

Balance Balance
January |, Reclas- December 31,
2015 Additions Deletions sifications 2015
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Intand channel and tuming basin $ 15324008 § - 3 - 3 - § 15,324,008
Jetties and jetty channel 35,836,003 - - 4,200,402 40,036,405
Land 9,934,753 - - - 9,934,753
Construction in progress 23,887,080 17,960,033 (3.247) (38,468.534) 3,375,332
Easements 20,760 - - - 20,760
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 85,002,604 17,960,033 (3.247) (34,268,132} 68,691,258
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Docks and appurtenances 46,757,332 - - 25,798,573 72,555,905
Water and sewer systems 10,534,060 - - 23612 10,557,672
Railroads 7.542,279 - - - 7,542,279
Railway from component unit 3,731,666 - - - 3,731,666
Land improvements and roads 30,786,479 - - 4,930,180 35,716,659
Administration building 751,354 - - - 751,354
Industrial equipment 6,215,879 - (159,352) 3,509,282 9,565,809
Furniture and equipment 1,176,696 - - - 1,176,696
[ntangible assets 5,895,274 - - - 5.895.274
Total capital assets, being depreciated 113,391,019 - (159,352) 34,261,647 147,493,314
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Docks and appurtenances (29,251 ,880) (859,912) - - (30,111,792)
Water and sewer systems (7,393,119} (276,512) - - (7,669,631}
Railrouds (3,828,022 (183.038) - - (4,011,060)
Railway from component unit (49,824) (119,572) - - (169,396)
Land improvements and roads (13,125,479 (1,935,963) - 420 (15,061,022
Administration building (636,987) (18,784) - - (655,771)
Industrial equipment (4,318,762) (403,866) 159,352 - (4,563,276)
Furniture and equipment (522,293) (185,230) - - (707,523)
Intangible assets (4,440,000) - - (4.440,000)
Total accumulated depreciation (63,566,365) (3,982,877 159,352 420 (67,389.471)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 49,824,654 (3.982,877) - 34,262,067 80,103,843
Total capital assets, net $ 134827258 § 13968,168 § (3.247) § (6,481) § 148,795,101
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NOTE 3. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES - CONTINUED

E. LONG-TERM DEBT

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended December 31, 2015 are as follows:

Balance Balance
Outstanding Outstanding Due Within
January 1, 2015 Additions Deletions December 31, 2015 One Year
Bonds Payable:
Revenue Bonds - First Lien $ 14,670,000 b - $ (1,400,000) 3 13,270,000 3 805,000
Less: Unamoritzed discounts (955) - 955 - -
General Obligation Bonds 10,570,000 - (2,290,000) 8,280,000 2,360,000
Plus: Premium on capital - -
appreciation bonds 13,891 - (6.411) 7.480 -
Total bonds payable 25,252,936 (3,695,456) 21,557,480 3,165,000
Compensated Absences 226,176 7,975 - 234,151 234,151 M
Total long-term debt $ 25479,112 5 7.975 $ (3,695456) $ 21,791,631 $  3.399,151

——————— S—

W included in accrued liabilities of $581,032

Revenue Bonds

Interest

Rates
Series 2002A 3.38% - 4.80%
Series 2002B 3.38% - 4.80%
Series 2011 3.01%
Series 2012 3.19%

Less: Current maturities

Issue

Date
07-10-02
07-10-02
10-24-11
12-27-12

Issue

Matures

2022
2022
2021
2038

Original Unpaid
[ssue Principal
$ 1,790,000 $ 840,000
1,900,000 875,000
2,390,000 1,655,000

10,000,000  __9.900.000
$13,270,000

(805.000)

$12,465,000

The series 2002A, 2002B, 2011, and 2012 are parity issues of first lien revenue bonds. All of the net
revenues of the District (defined as gross revenues from operations of the District facilities, excluding any
rentals--except for ground rentals--from net rent leases which are pledged under other debt instruments,
and funds derived from taxes levied to pay debt service on general obligation bonds of the District, less
expenses incurred in the operation and maintenance of the port facilities) are pledged for the payment of
the bond principal and interest of these revenue bonds.

If certain conditions are met, additional bonds may be issued. One of these conditions is that average
annual net revenues for the preceding two fiscal years, or for the twenty-four month period ending not
more than sixty days prior to the adopting of the resolution authorizing the issuance of the additional
bonds, were at least one and one-half times the average annual principal and interest requirements of all
revenue bonds then outstanding and of the bonds then proposed to be issued.
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General Obligation Bonds

Interest Issue Issue Original Unpaid
Rates Date Matures Issue Principal

Series 2007A 391%-4.32%  09-04-07 2017 $ 2,750,000 § 715,000
Series 2008A 3.42%  05-01-08 2018 5,145,000 1,895,000
Series 2011 3.40%  12-02-11 2020 4,805,000 2,555,000
Series 2013 1.89%  03-11-13 2023 3,830,000 3.115.000

$ 8,280,000

Plus: Premium on Capital Apreciation Bonds 7.480
8,287,480

Less: Current maturities (2,360.000)
$_5.927,480

The District was authorized by its voters in an election held in October 1991 to issue general obligation
bonds, in three or more series or issues, in the aggrepgate principal amount of $43,000,000. The proceeds
of the bonds are to be used as follows:

“.. the issuance of $21,000,000 for the construction of an international bridge,
$17,000,000 for the deepening of the ship channel, and $5,000,000 for wharf and dock

improvements.”

Authorized and unissued general obligation bonds at December 31, 2015 are as follows:

Amount Issued
Purpose Authorized To-Date Unissued
Bridge construction $21,000,000 $13,000,000 $8,000,000

The bonds are to be collateralized by ad valorem taxes levied by the District, which are irrevocably
pledged without limit as to rate or amount, and these taxes are to be used for no other purpose than to pay
the principal and interest of the bonds as they mature. In addition, any net revenues which are actually
deposited in the debt service fund become pledged for payment of bond principal and interest.
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General Obligation Bonds — Continued

Annual maturities of debt subsequent to December 31, 2015, are as follows:

Year General Obligation
Ending Revenue Bonds Bonds
December 31, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2016 $ 805,000 5 376,981 $ 2,360,000 b 202,263
2017 830,000 355,574 2,180,000 127,303
2018 860,000 333,494 780,000 80,804
2019 900,000 310,511 855,000 58,736
2020 925,000 286,701 880,000 35,130
2021-2025 2,925,000 1,143,374 1,225,000 35,012
2026-2030 2,010,000 798,776 - -
2031-2035 2,350,000 459,360 - -
2036-2040 1.665,000 81,265 - -

Total $ 13270000 § 4,146,036 3 8,280,000 3 539,248

All bonds may be redeemed prior to their maturities in accordance with provisions of the various bond
resolutions. The redemption prices for some of the bonds include premiums ranging downward from 4%.

Interest Expense

Port system interest expense is as follows:

Revenue bonds $ 396,750
General obligation bonds 287.854
5 684,604

(This space intentionally left blank)
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F. OPERATING LEASES

The District leases certain assets to others. These leases pertain to land, buildings, and improvements and
rail spurs. Cost of the assets under lease totaled $4,895,010, consisting of $823,054 in buildings and
improvements, $307,196 in rail spurs, and $3,764,760 of land with a net book value of $4,647,417.
Current year depreciation on these assets was $52,050. As of December 31, 2015, future minimum rentals
anticipated to be received by the District under the operating leases with initial or remaining non-
cancellable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Future Minimum

Year Ending Lease Rentals
2016 h) 6,032,742
2017 5 6,122,076
2018 5 6,212,749
2019 $ 6,304,783
2020 $ 6,304,783

The District’s Leasing Policies provide for annual increases in lease rental rates that correspond to the
annual Consumer Price Index (CPI).

G. PENSION PLAN

Plan Description

Brownsville Navigation District sponsors a public single employer defined benefit pension plan for eligible
employees. Brownsville Navigation District serves as plan administrator. The plan’s assets are invested in
a trust fund overseen by named individual co-trustees with Morgan Stanley serving as trust custodian and
investment advisor. Amendments to the plan are made only with the authority of the Board of
Commissioners. The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report. However, an annual actuarial
valuation report is available from Brownsville Navigation District. That report may be obtained by writing
Brownsville Navigation District at 1000 Faust Road, Brownsviile, Texas 78521.
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G. PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED
Plan Description — Continued

The Board of Commissioners of Brownsville Navigation District has sole authority to establish or amend
the obligations to contribute to the plan by participants or the employer.

Benefits Provided

The Retirement Plan for Employees of Brownsville Navigation District provides retirement, disability, and
death benefits. Amended pre-2010 retirement benefit provisions for grandfathered employees provide
retirement benefits which are calculated as 1.05% of the employee’s 5-year average compensation as of
December 31, 2009 times the employee’s years of service as of December 31, 2009. Post-2009 cash
balance plan provisions for non-grandfathered participants provide retirement benefits which are calculated
as the sum of the employee’s Beginning Balance Subaccount, Employee Contribution Subaccount,
Employer Matching Subaccount, and Cash Balance Conversion Retirement Supplement Account.
Grandfathered employees are those who were not an employee after 2009. Participants with 10 years of
service are eligible to retire at age 55. Disability retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as
retirement benefits but are payable immediately with an actuarial reduction. Death benefits are determined
in the same manner as retirement benefits but are payable immediately with an actuarial reduction. An
employee who leaves the employer’s service may withdraw his or her contributions, plus an accumulated
interest.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

As of January 1, 2015, the following numbers of employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 23
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 41
Active employees 93

157
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Contributions

The Board of Commissioners has the sole authority to establish and amend the contribution requirements
of the active employees. The required employer contributions are based on an actuarially-determined rate
recommended by an indepenent actvary. The actuarially-determined employer contribution rate is the
established amount necessary to finance the costs of employer provided benefits earned by employees
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer is
required to contribute the actuarially-determined employer contribution rate apart from the contribution
rate of employees. For the employer fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, the average active employee
contribution rate (for the period between the two most recent measurement dates) was 4.00% of annual
pay, and the employer’s actuarially-determined contribution rate was 10.25 of annual payroll.

The employer contribution is presently 10.25% of annual participant payroll and will remain at that level as
long as the amount is sufficient to pay the Employer Normal Cost and amortize the Unfunded Actuarial
Liability (Net Pension Liability) over a period of not more than 25 years. The contribution policy for the
plan is as follows:

The plan will experience economic and demographic gains and losses over time that may affect the
employer contribution rate. In addition, the employer contribution rate may be affected by material
changes made to plan provisions or valuation assumptions from time to time. To help mitigate the
frequency at which a change in the employer contribution rate would be required due to gains and
losses or changes in valuation assumptions, based on the methodology first adopted by the District
beginning with the 2003 plan year for determining recommended plan funding requirements, the
plan’s actuary will not recommend that the District change the scheduled employer contribution rate
for the plan until: (i) there is a change in the actuarial liability cost method, (ii) the plan’s trust does
not have sufficient assets to pay the plan’s normal cost plus expected benefit payments for the year,
(iii) the plan is amended, or (iv) the scheduled employer contribution rate is no longer sufficient to
both fund the plan’s normal cost and amortize the plan’s unfunded actuarial liability over a period
between 10 years and 25 years. If one of these events occur, the adopted methodology would require
the employer contribution rate to be “reset” so that the unfunded actuarial liability is amoritized over
a period of 15 years beginning in that valuation year. The prevailing employer contribution rate is
applied to Total District Payroll for the year (as estimated by the District) to determine the total
employer contribution for the year.

58



BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

NOTE 3. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES - CONTINUED
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Pension Plan Investments

Investment policy decisions are established and maintained by Brownsville Navigation District in
consultation with the plan’s investment advisors.

The annual money weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of expenses, which expresses
net invesment performance adjusted for changing amounts actually invested each month was 2.8% for the

12 months ended December 31, 2014,

The returns, computed as above, for the preceeding 10 years*, is shown in the table below:

Annual Money Weighted
12 Months Ended Net Rate of Return
12/31/13 17.1%
12/31/12 9.9%

* This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-
year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years for which information is available.

Net Pension Liability

The Employer’s net pension liability reported for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 was measured
as of January 1, 2015, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that same date.,

1. Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.0%

Salary increases 4.5%, including inflation

Investment rate of returmn Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation
- Pre-decrement 7.50%

- Post-decrement 6.00%
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1. Actuarial Assumptions — Continued

Mortality rates were based on the Society of Actuaries RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table with
Projection Scale MP-2014.

The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period 2006-2014.

The Statement of Investment Policy for the pension plan trust creates two subaccounts in the Cash Balance
Investments Subaccount and the Annuity Financing Investment Subaccount. Each subaccount has its own
goals, investment guidelines and asset allocation guidelines.

For each investment subaccount, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
determined using a building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns,
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These
components are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by additing expected inflation
(3.00%). In addition, the final assumption reflects a reduction of 1.00% for investment expenses. For each
investment subaccount, the target allocation and expected arithmetic real rates of retum for each major
asset class are summarized in the following tables:

Cash Balance Investment Subaccount

Long-Term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Equity 70% 6.50%
Fixed income 20% 4.15%
Cash 10% 1.25%
Total Weighted Average 100% 5.51%
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1. Actuarial Assumptions — Continued

Annuity Financing Investment Subaccount

Long-Term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Equity 0% 6.50%
Fixed income 95% 4.15%
Cash 5% 1.25%
Total Weighted Average 100% 4.01%

2. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50% pre-decrement and 6.00% post-
decrement, resulting in an effective discount rate of 6.52% based on the January 1, 2015 plan census and
actuarial assumptions. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will
be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
employee rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

(This space intentionally left blank)
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G. PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a} - (b}
Balance at December 31, 2014 ) 7,294 304 $ 3,481,994 $ 3,812,310
Changes for the year:
Service cost 5 205,531 5 205,531
Interest 495 981 495981
Differences between expected and actual experience (67,963) (67,963)
Contributions - employer 408,231 (408,231)
Contributions - employee 148,154 (148,154)
Net investment income 102,087 (102,087)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee
contributions (375,101) (375,101) -
Assumption changes 292,994 - 292,994
Net changes 3 551,442  § 283,371 5 268,071
Balances at December 31, 2015° $ 7,845,746 § 3,765,365 § 4,080,381

[ )

Information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 was taken as of the measurement date of January 1, 2014 as

permitted by Paragraph No. 20 of GASB No, 68.

Information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 was taken as of the measurement date of January 1, 2015 as

permitted by Paragraph No. 20 of GASB No. 68.
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NOTE 3. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES - CONTINUED

G. PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

1. Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liabilitv to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Employer, calculated using an effective discount rate
of 6.52% (based on pre-decrement and post-decrement assumptions of 7.50%/6.00% and the January 1,
2015 plan census and actuarial assumptions), as well as what the Employer’s net pension liability would be

if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.52%) or 1-percentage-point
higher (7.52%}) than the current rate:

Current
Effective %
1% Decrease Discount Increase
(5.52%) Rate (6.52%) (7.52%)
Employer's Net Pension Liability h 4,855,786 $ 4,080,381 $ 3,226,877

Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Employer recognized pension expense of $391,411.

1. Components of Pension Expense for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Service cost $ 205,531
Interest on the total pension liability 495,981
Amontization of differences between expected and actual experience' (16,699)
Amortization of changes of assumptions' 71,989
Employee contributions (148,154)
Projected earnings on pension plan investments (246,025)
Amortization of differences between projected and actual earnings on plan investments® 28,788
Total pension expense b 391411

At December 31, 2015°, the Employer reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the sources listed on the next page.
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|. Components of Pension Expense for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015 — Continued

Per Paragragh No 33.a. of GASB No. 68, amortized over a straight-line closed period equal to the average remaining service
period for all employees (active and inactive who are provided with benefits through the pension plan. (4.07 years as of
January 1, 2015.)

Per Paragraph No. 33.b. of GASB No. 68, amortized over a straight-line closed 5-year period.

Amounts recognized in the fiscal year represent changes between the current and prior measurement dates.

2. Changes in Deferred Quiflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

Change in Change in
Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - § 51,264
Changes of assumptions 221,005 -
Net difference between projected and acutal earnings on
pension plan investments 115,150 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 442,949
Total $ 779,104  § 51,264

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources, $442,949, related to pensions resulting from
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability for the year ending December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
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2. Changes in Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources — Continued

Year Ended

December 31 Amount
2016 $ 84,078
2017 84,078
2018 84,078
2019 32,657
2020 -

Thereafter -

Actuarial Methods

I. Actuarial Funding Method

The Entry Age Normal actuarial funding method is used in determining the contribution requirements for
the plan. The actuarial funding method is the procedure by which the actuary annually identifies a series of
annual contributions which, along with current asets and future investment earnings, will fund the expected
plan benefits. The Entry Age Normal funding method compares the excess of the present value of
expected future plan benefits over the current value of plan assets. This difference representes the
expected present value of current and future contributions that will be paid into the plan. The contributions
are divided into two components: an annual normal cost (or current cost} and an amortization charge for
the unfunded accrued liability.

The normal cost for the plan is the sum of individually determined normal costs for each active participant.
Each active participant’s normal cost is the current annual contribution in a series of annual contributions
which, if made throughout the participant’s total period of employment, would fund his expected benefits
from the plan. Each participant’s normal cost is calculated to be an annual constant percentage of his
expected compensation in each year of employment.

The plan’s current accrued liability is the excess of the present value of expected future benefits over the
present value of all future remaining normal cost contributions of active participants. The unfunded
accrued liability is the amount by which the accrued liability exceeds the current plan assets. The
unfunded accrued liability is recalculated each time a valuation is performed.
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2. Actuarial Value of Assets

Market Value of Assets as of the valuation date equals Fair Value plus any receivable contributions made
or to be made for a prior plan year. Actuarial Value of Assets equals Market Value less deferred net asset
gains plus deferred net asset losses. Market Value gains or losses are recognized over a 5-year period at a
rate of 20% per year. Actuarial Value of Assets shall be adjusted as to not be in excess of 130% of Market
Value nor to be less than 70% of Market Value.

Market Value of Assets as of the valuation date equals Fair Value plus any receivable contributions made
or to be made for a prior plan year. Actuarial Value of Assets equals Market Value less deferred net asset
gains plus deferred net asset losses. Market Value gains or losses are recognized over a S-year period at a
rate of 20% per year. Actuarial Value of Assets shall be adjusted as to not be in excess of 130% of Market
Value nor to be less than 70% of Market Value.

Actuarial Assumptions

1. Mortality: The active and retired participants of the plan are expected to exhibit mortality in
accordance with the following published mortality tables:

a. Pre-retirement Mortality: RP-2014 Blue Collar Table projected using the Scale
MP-2014 mortality improvement rates

b. Post-retirement Mortality:  RP-2014 Blue Collar Table projected using the Scale
MP-2014 mortality improvement rates

c. Post-disability Mortality: RP-2014 Disability Retiree Table projected using Scale
MP-2014 mortality improvement rates

2. Withdrawal: The active participants are assumed to terminate their employment for causes other than
death, disability or retirement in accordance with annual rates as illustrated below.
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Actuarial Methods — Continued

Terminations per

Attained Age 1,000 Participants
25 172
30 158
35 137
40 113
45 84
50 51

3.  Investment Return: Current and future plan assets in the Trust’s [nvestment Subaccounts are assumed
to reflect an investment return net of expenses as follows:

a. Cash Balance Investment Subaccount: 7.50%
b. Annuity Financing Investment Subaccount: 6.00%

4. Assumed Cash Balance Interest Crediting Rate: The annual rate of gross investment return for the
Trust’s Cash Balance Investment Subaccount reduced for expected plan-related expenses

5. Earnings Progression: The increase in the levels of participant compensation is assumed to occur in
accordance with normal rates as illustrated below:

Attained Age Rate of Increase
20 6.00%
25 6.00%
30 5.50%
35 5.00%
40 4.50%
45 4.00%
50 3.50%
55 3.25%
60+ 3.00%
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Actuarial Methods — Continued

6. Retirement Age: A participant is assumed to retire at the attainment of his normal retirement age. Any
participant who has attained his expected retirement age and is still working is assumed to retire

immediately.

7. Disabilitv: Active participants are expected to become disabled as defined under the plan in
accordance with annual rates as illustrated below:

Disabilities per

8. Recognition of IRC Section 415 Limitations: The limitations under [RC Section 401(a)(17) and 415(b)

Attained Age 1,000 Participants
20 1.3
25 1.6
30 22
40 4.3
50 11.8
60 26.8

have been reflected in the determination of plan costs.

9. Growth in Aggregate Participant Payroll: 4.50% per year.

10. Assumed Form of Pavment:;

Cash Balance Subaccount
Beginning Employee Employer Retirement
Decrement Balance Contribution Match Supplement
50% Immediate 50% Immediate
Retirement Annuity/50% Lump Annuity/50% Lump Immediate
Sum Sum Annuity
Disability Lump Sum
Preretirement
Death Lump Sum
40% Deferred 4(% Deferred
Vested Annuity/60% Lump Annuity/60% Lump Deferred N/A
Termination Sum Sum Annuity
Non-Vested
Termination N/A Lump Sum N/A
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H. CAPITAL LEASES

The District entered into a capital lease agreement in 2014 as lessor for financing certain real estate assets
previously owned by their disolved component unit (BRG) that was sold to a privately owned company.
The lease agreement qualified as a capital lease for accounting purposes and, therefore, had been recorded
at the net present value of future minimum lease payments receivable at the inception of the lease.

The net present value of these minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2015, were as follows:

Year

2016 $ 128,751
2017 128,751
2018 128,751
2019 128,751
2020 128,751
2021 85.714
Total minimum lease payments receivable 729,469
Less: interest amount (64.871)

Present value of lease payments receivable $ 664,598

[. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The District is a member of the Southmost Regional Water Authority (“Authority”). The Authority is a
conservation and reclamation district created pursuant to Article XVI, Section 59, of the Texas
Constitution and the Act of June 12, 1981, 67" Leg., Ch. 511, 1981 Tex. Gen. Laws 2196.

The Authority was established to investigate the feasibility of developing a source of water from brackish
groundwater. The District is under contractual obligation with the Authority to receive 2.1% of the
monthly treated potable water production. On October 15,2003, the District’s Board approved a
Memorandum of Understanding with the Authority whereas the District’s percentage participation was set
at 2.1%. Billings from the Authority in the amounts of $48,777 for expenses for fiscal year ending
September 20, 2015 were paid by the District. These amounts were used by the Authority to cover its debt

service and maintenance and operating expenses and as such were expensed by the District in the current
year.
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Operations and maintenance costs of the Authority are funded through guaranteed water supply contracts
with the participating entities. The Authority’s acquisition and construction of capital assets was funded
through the sale of bonds with the entities guaranteeing the debt service payments, notes, and obligations
issued under indenture. The Authority’s debt obligations outstanding for the fiscal year ended September
30, 2015, were $31,520,000.

J. RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is exposed to risk of financial loss from fire, windstorm, explosion and other perils that could
damage or destroy assets and properties and cause loss of income should assets and properties be shut
down for an extended period of time. The District is also exposed to third-party bodily injury and property
damage claims arising from the operation and ownership of its properties. The District is a member of the
Texas Municipal League Risk Pool to protect itself from these types of losses and carries windstorm
coverage through the Texas windstorm Insurance Association of the State of Texas. Exposure risks also
include risk of losses resulting from on-the-job injuries sustained by employees; the District carries
coverage for these losses through the Texas Municipal League Risk Pool.

1. Workers' Compensation Program

The District has a workers’ compensation plan through its participation in the Texas Municipal League
Risk Pool. This plan provides medical and indemnity payments as required by law for on-the-job injuries.
The District pays an annual premium which is based on estimated payrolls and is subject to an audit and
adjustment at the end of each year. There is no liability for workers’ compensation claims outside of the
payment of the premium for the coverage.

2. Health Insurance Program

The District provides a group health insurance plan through a commercial insurance company for all it’s
full-time employees. Coverage under the plan for employees’ dependents is available, but is not provided
by the District. There is no liability for health claims outside of the payment of the premium for coverage.
Amounts of settlements did not exceed insurance coverage in each of the past three years.
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K. CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS

Construction Commitments

The District has active construction projects and commitments as of December 31, 2015. These projects
commitments include the following:

Construction Commitments:

Commitment
Projects Spent to Date Remaining
Port Entrance Canopy/ Foust Road $ - A 749,600
Oil Dock #3 Facility Enhancement 96,156 215,444
Roads Rehab Project 1,005,973 522,577

L. CONTINGENCIES

The District participates in various federal grant programs which are subject to program compliance audits
pursuant to the Single Audit Act as amended. Accordingly, the District’s compliance with applicable grant
requirements will be established at a future date. The amount of expenditures which may be disallowed
by the granting agency cannot be determined at this time, although the District anticipates such amounts, if

any will be immaterial.

The District is currently involved in various claims and litigation. It is the opinion of management and
counsel that potential claims against the District not covered by insurance resulting from litigation would
not materially affect the financial position or operations of the District.
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M. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
The District recorded the following prior period adjustments:
Expenses relating to the previous fiscal year were reclassified decreasing net position by $14,814.

In fiscal year 2015, the District adopted and implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and GASB Statement No. 71,
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date, an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 68, and recorded a prior period adjustment to reflect the effects of the guidance. The net
effect of the prior period adjustment decreased net position by $3,404,079 in the current year. Amounts
related to prior years were not readily determinable. Therefore, prior years are not restated.

N. PENDING GASB’S

As of December 31, 2015, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) had issued statements
not yet implemented by the District. The statements which might impact the entities are as follows:

GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, becomes effective for the District
beginning with their fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. This Statement addresses accounting and
financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The definition of fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. This Statement provides guidance for determining a fair value
measurement for financial reporting purposes. This Statement also provides guidance for applying fair
value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.

This Statement requires a government to use valuation techniques that are appropriate under the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value. The techniques should be
consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach, the cost approach, or the
income approach. Valuation techniques should be applied consistently, though a change may be
appropriate in certain circumstances. Valuation techniques maximize the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

This Statement establishes a hierarchy of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. That
hierarchy has three levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs — other than quoted prices — included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Finally, Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs, such as management’s assumption of the default rate among underlying mortgages of a mortgage-
back security.
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N. PENDING GASB’S — CONTINUED

This Statement also requires disclosures to be made about fair value measurements, the level of fair value
hierarchy, and valuation techniques. It also requires additional disclosures regarding investments in certain
entities that calculate net asset value per share (or its equivalent).

The requirements of this Staternent will enhance comparability of financial statements among goverments
by requiring measurement of certain assets and liabilities at fair value using a consistent and more detailed
definition of fair value and acceptable valuation techniques. This Statement also will enhance fair value
application guidance and related disclosures in order to provide information to financial statement users
about the impact of fair value measurements on a government’s financial postion. The District are
currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this statement will have on their financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not Within
the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68,
becomes effective for the District beginning with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. The objective
of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about pensions included in the general
purpose external financial reports of state and local governments for making decisions and assessing
accountability. This Statement results from a comprehensive review of the effectiveness of existing
standards of accounting and financial reporting for all postemployment benefits with regard to providing
decision-useful information, sujpporting assessments of accountability and interperiod equity, and creating
additional transparency.

The requirements of this Statement will improve financial reporting by establishing a single framework for
the presentation of information about pensions, which will enhance the comparability of pension-related
information reported by employers and nonemployer contributing entities. The District are currently
evaluating the impact that the adoption of this statement will have on their financial statement.

GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local
Governments, becomes effective for the District beginning with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2016.
The objective of this Statement is to identify — in the context of the current governmental financial
reporting environment — the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The “GAAP
hierarchy” consists of the sources of accounting principles used to prepare financial statements of state and
local governmental entities in conformity with GAAP and the framework for selecting those principles.
This Statement reduces the GAAP hierarchy to two categories of authoritative GAAP and addresses the
use of authoritative and nonauthoritative literature in the event that the accounting treatment for a
transaction or other event is not specified within a source of authoritative GAAP. This Statement
supersedes Statement No. 55, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and
Local Governments.
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The requirements in this Statement improve financial reporting by (1) raising the category of GASB
Implementation Guides in the GAAP hierarchy, thus providing the opportunity for broader public input on
implementation guidance; (2) emphasizing the importance of analogies to authoritative literature when the
accounting treatment for an event is not specified in authoritative GAAP; and (3) requiring the
consideration of consistency with the GASB Concepts Statements when evaluating accounting treatments
specified in nonauthoritative literature.

O. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 9, 2016, the Brownsville Navigation District issued $27,580,000 in Senior Lien Revenue
Bonds, Series 2016. Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to (i) provide funds for acquiring,
constructing, enlarging, extending, repairing, maintaining, operating, or developing of District Facilities,
(i1) make a deposit to a bond reserve fund, and (iii) pay costs related to the issuance of the Bonds.
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER’S
NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS"

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT

2015
Total Pension Liability
a. Service cost 5 205
b. Interest 496
c. Changes in benefit terms -
d. Differences between expecied and actual experience (68)
e. Changes of assumptions 293
f. Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (375)
g. Net Change in total Pension Liability $ 551
h. Tetal Pension Liability - Beginning 7,294
i. Total Pension Liability - Ending $ 7,845
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
a. Contributions - employer $ 408
b. Contributions - employee 148
c. Net investmenlt income 102
d. Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (375)
e. Administrative expense -
f. Other =
g. Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position $ 283
h. Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 3,482
i. Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending b 3,765
Employer's Net Pension Liability - Ending [Item 1(i) - 2(i)] $ 4,080
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 47.99%
Covered-Employee Payroll“ 5 3,789
Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll 107.68%

Notes to Schedule:

Changes of assumptions:

Investment retum for the Cash Balance Subaccount decreased from 8.0% to 7.5%.

(¥

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend

is compiled, governments should present information forthose years for which information is available.

Mortality updated to new table published by Society of Actuaries (Novemeber 2014), and the

Information is presented using a January 1, 2015 measurement date as permitted under Paragraph No. 20 of GASB No. 68.

Total compensation (not just pensionable compensation, if different).
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Last 10 Fiscal Years'
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

1 Actuarially determined contribution $ 388

2 Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially Contribution 443 °
3 Contribution Deficiency/(Excess) $ (55)

4 Covered-Employee’ $ 3,789

5 Contributions as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll 11.67%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date: January 1, 2015

Actuarially determined contributions rates are calculated as of January 1, 2015, which is the most recent

valuation date prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization peirod 17.2 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market

Inflation 3.0%

Salary increases 4.5%, average, including inflation

Investment rate of return Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation

- pre-decrement  7.50%
- post-decrement  6.00%

Retirement age 65

Mortality RP-2014 Blue Collar Total Employee Mortality Table, Projected with

Scale MP-2014 mortality improvement scale

is compiled, governments should present information forthose years for which information is available.
Contributions are assumed to be made prior to January 1, 2016
Estimated payroll provided by Brownsville Navigation District as of the beginning of the fiscal year.

(=)
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BROWNSVILLE NAVIGATION DISTRICT OF CAMERON COUNTY, TEXAS

Wages

Payroll taxes

Net pension expense
Services

Materials

Utility

Insurance

Dues

Legal and auditing
Consulting fees
Supplies

Computer expense
Employee expense
Other expense
Contract rental and repairs
Travel

Advertising

Safety

Shop cost of sales
Land lease and rental rebate
Promotional expenses

SCHEDULE OF OPERATING EXPENSES
{Depreciation expense omitted)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

3,970,273
299,604
391,411
443,671
892,166
770,396

1,243,392

62,863
311,246
678,710
102,299
206,827

87,863

99,275

21,660
158,886

55,673

20,992

60,028

17,820

74,602

9,969,657
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Statistical Section

This part of the Brownsviile Navigation District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents
detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements,

note disclosure, and required supplementary information says about the District’s overall financial
health.

CONTENTS PAGE

Financial Trends 85-86
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader
understand how the District’s financial performance and
well being has changed over a period of time.

Revenue Capacity 89-96
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess
the District’s local revenue source.

Debt Capacity 99 - 102
These schedules present information to help the reader assess
the District’s debt burden and its ability to issue additional
debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 105 - 107
This schedule offers demographic and economic indicators
to help the reader understand the environment in which the
District’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information 110-114
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to
help the reader understand how the information in the
District’s financial report relates to the services the
District provides and the activities it performs.

Source: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules was obtained from the basic financial
statements for the relevant years.

This is the fourth year the Brownsville Navigation District prepared a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
that includes statistical information. The District has reported ten years of information whenever the data was
readily available.
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